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ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE  Describe important architectural features and evaluate in terms of
other areas within the community.

The area to the west of the railroad at Concord center is significant as an intact
neighborhood of primarily late-nineteenth- and early twentieth-century vernacular single
and double houses. It also contains at its eastern edge a lumber yard with wood-frame,
utilitarian buildings that date from the late-nineteenth to the twentieth century. As a
whole, very few later intrusions appear here. The residential architecture ranges from
the tiny mansard cottage, (cf. 127 Belknap,) through the simple, bracketed Italianate
gable-end house and cottage, (of which there are several examples,) the modest Queen
Anne, (see 118 Belknap Street,) and the early twentieth-century Colonial Revival in both
shingle and clapboard. All are situated on small lots, and corridors of mature trees
still line portions of the side streets. This neighborhood has the greatest variety of
double-houses at Concord center, with a concentration ofs the tiny side streets of Byron
Street and Love Lane.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE Explain historical importance of area and how the area relates to the

] f oth e
devgmggﬂgpéaowegg SE gﬁgagagfrggg %ggﬂﬁgigi Concord center encompasses upper Belknap, Grant,

Brooks, Elsinore, and Byron Streets, Love Lane, Belknap Court, and a portion of Sudbury

~f Road as its southern boundary. The earliest street, Belknap, was laid out, supposedly
by David Loring, shortly after its lower section was cut through from Main to the Depot

! in 1844. This western section was first called Texas Street, perhaps in commemoration
of the annexation of Texas in 1845. (In fact, the area west of the railroad, possibly
because of its seeming remoteness from the center of town, was referred to as Texas for
a while. The Thoreau family house, which stood on the north side of the street by their
pencil shop, was referred to as "the Texas house.") Later the name of upper Belknap was
changed to High Street, officially becoming Belknap in 1889.

As was true of parts of West Concord, the area which came to be called "back of the
depot' was developed as a residential neighborhood in the last decades of the nineteenth
and beginning of the twentieth centuries by some of Concord's smaller local

speculators. The pattern here was the laying out of house lots by landowners such as
the lumber-yard owner, James B. Wood and hay- and grain-dealer Benjamin Brown, who
either built houses for rent or resale, or sold lots to individuals who had houses built
for their own families, or to rent out as "tenements." In the case of double-houses, an
owner often occupied one half, and rented out theother. By 1910 the area had grown into
a neighborhood of largely Irish and Italian owners and descendants, with some families
of Norwegian and Swedish descent, as well. (Cont.)
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HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE, cont.

The earliest buildings in the neighborhood are the two houses at #s 132-146 Belknap
Street, standing by 1852. #132-42 belonged apparently to Ebenezer Hubbard in 1856.
(Further research is needed to determine its connection with his Ebenezer—Hubbard®s
acreage to the southeast.) By 1875 Mark Loftus had begun the construction of the nine
houses that were to stand to their east, four houses had been built on the south side of
Belknap, and most buildings were standing on Byron and the east side of Grant Street.

By 1889 the west side of Grant had been filled in, and a few buildings built on the
north side of Elsinore Street; in 1893 more were standing on lower Elsinore, and the
first two on the north side of Brooks Street. (Elsinore was accepted by the town in
1893; Brooks Street in 1898.)

The lumber yard along the southwest side of the tracks has continued in nearly the same
use for over 100 years. In the latter part of the nineteenth century it was occupied by
the buildings of James Wood's coal and lumber business, Benjamin Brown's farm supply
buildings, (including a grain elevator by the tracks,) and other grain facilities of
E.J. Hastings & Co. at the northwestern end. By 1887 a blacksmith and wheelwright shop
were occupying what is today the rear section of the large shed at #60 Love Lane, which
extends through to Grant Street, (belonging entirely to blacksmith Thomas McGann by
1903,). By 1892, Benjamin Brown had built the two-story building at 178 Sudbury Road,
(to become in the early twentieth century the main building of Wilson Lumber,) and a
paint shop occupied his old building to its southwest. The date of the little freight
house that still stands by the tracks is uncertain; it is first shown on maps in 1893..

This neighborhood is also significant for its connection with an important Concord
institution of the second half of the nineteenth century--the agricultural fair grounds
that occupied a large acreage on the east bank of the Sudbury River. In 1869 the main
part of the facility was built; a large oval track with judges' stand, a grandstand, and
associated sheds, pens, and stables. It originally was used for the annual cattle
shows, replacing an agricultural ground that had been located in the vicinity of Sleepy
Hollow Cemetery. At some point an agricultural exhibit building was added. By the
1880's a variety of sporting events, concerts, circuses, and animal shows were held
here, and in 1889 the Concord Driving Park association was organized to hold trotting
races on the track. The cattle show had been phased out by 1890, and was replaced by an
increasing emphasis on athletics. The agricultural exhibit building was occupied by the
West End Athletic club, and boasted a new indoor tennis court. By 1903, however, the
facility had closed down, and under the ownership of the Middlesex Mutual Fire Insurance
company, it was subdivided into houselots on the extended western sections of Belknap,§
Elsinore, and Brooks (formerly Sheridan,) Streets. :
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MHC #/ Address Historic name Approximate date
o | 197 Belknap Street Early 20th century
G o9 13 Brooks Street Ca. 1890
G (o 18 Brooks Street Ca. 1890
G o 21 Brooks Street Early 20th century
AT 31 Brooks Street Ca. 1907-09
Gl 2 36 Brooks Street Early 20th century
G 13 43 Brooks Street Early twentieth century
* 380 549, Byron Street - James Byron House Ca. 1873
GiH 6/8 Byron Street Late 19th century
G (s~ 15 Byron Street - Byron House Ca. 1880
e 16 46 Byron Street Late 19th century
%331 20 Elsinore Street Ca. 1880
6o 24 Elsinore Street Ca. 1880
GO3A 27 Elsinore Street Early 20th century
*3¥L 42 Elsinore Street - Andersen House Ca. 1880-85
Goy 47 Elsinore Street Early 20th century
Gos 58 Elsinore Street Early 20th century
Goe 67 Elsinore Street Early 20th century
o 68 Elsinore Street Early 20th century
6 oy 79 Elsinore Street Early 20th century
(> X7 17 Grant Street - DoWpSey towse Ca. 1880

*3?#‘ 2Q/22 Grant Street Ca. 1880
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27 Grant Street
37 Grant Street
47 Grant Street
59 Grant Street
68 Grant Street - Byron House

72 Grant Street - Wallace House
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73 Grant Street- Martin Farrington House

78 Grant Street- Wallace House
83 Grant Street
89 Grant Street

~72-Love Lane

Off sudbury Road - railroad freight house

175 Sudbury Road
178 Sudbury Road - BW Brown Grain Co.

185 Sudbury Road

216 Sudbury Road - Ha.rc"w\g{'b'n House
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“Country Kitchen Sandwich Shop,” 181 Sudbury Road (CON.629) (January 2013 photo)
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